RECEIVED

Jun 23 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

ON PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-001408

K.S., a minor, by and through his Guardian ad Litem, James SeegerPetitioner,

v.

Richland School District Two.....Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

Andrew S. Radeker
S.C. Bar No. 73743
Harrison, Radeker & Smith, P.A.
Post Office Box 50143
Columbia, South Carolina 29250
(803) 779-2211
drew@harrisonfirm.com
Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This Court has granted certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' decision in Guardian ad Litem, James Seeger v. Richland School District Two, Op. No. 2022-UP-312 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 27, 2022). That decision affirmed the grant of a directed verdict to the Respondent, Richland School District Two (hereinafter, sometimes "the school district"), in a trial about the school district's responsibility for damage done to K.S. (hereinafter, sometimes, "the child" or "the first grader") by the cruel and abusive actions of his first grade teacher, Jan Moody, who was an employee of the school district. Though the record contained evidence that Moody grabbed the child's arm forcefully and that this caused the child to experience physical pain (App'x p. 158, line 13 – p. 159, line 17), the Court of Appeals upheld the directed verdict on the grounds that the child had not shown any evidence of an injury. The Court of Appeals also held that the child's psychological injuries were not recoverable because the conduct that caused them – all part of a pattern of deliberate bullying of a first grader by his teacher – was not extreme or outrageous enough.

Determining that its decision was dispositive, the Court of Appeals did not reach Petitioner's issues concerning 1) the effect of the Safe School Climate Act, S.C. Code § 59-63-110, *et. seq.*, on the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-10, *et seq.*, and 2) the exclusion of the testimony of an expert witness at trial.

Petitioner filed the initial complaint. (App'x p. 18-31.) Respondent answered that complaint. (App'x p. 32-39.) Petitioner amended his complaint, and the Respondent answered the amended complaint. (App'x p. 40-59.)

As trial approached, Respondent filed a motion in limine to exclude Petitioner's expert witness from testifying. (App'x p. 64-70.) Respondent also filed a motion for summary judgment. (App'x p. 87- 88.) The parties submitted memoranda of law which briefed the subjects for trial. (App'x p. 71-86, R. p. 89-131.)

The trial judge heard and denied Respondent's motions at the beginning of trial. The trial judge also heard and rejected arguments raised in Petitioner's pre-trial brief that the South Carolina Tort Claims Act had been repealed by the later adoption of the Safe Schools Climate Act.

After three days of trial, the trial judge directed a verdict, ruling as follows:

THE COURT: Moreover, I don't even know that the touching on October 20th satisfies physical injury. Black's Law Dictionary defines physical injury as physical damage to a person's body. There has been no testimony of any damage to [K.S.]'s person. In fact, I believe there was testimony that -- that there were no physical scars, or no one saw anything, or at least there's no affirmative testimony that there was any damage to his body. I could touch the hood of your car. That might be an unwanted touching. Maybe a car is a bad thing, because it's not so closely to the person that it'd be an assault. But I'll use it as an example. I can touch it, or I can scratch it with my key. One is damage, and the other is not. An unwanted touching would be an assault for which Ms. Moody would be liable. And when we talk about damages in -- in these kinds of cases -- let's see. Ralph King Anderson's charge -- and he cites some cases. But (As read): **"An injured party may recover for mental anguish brought about by bodily injury and suffering."**

(App'x p. 453-454) (emphasis added.)

The trial issued a Form 4 noting the direct verdict ruling. (App'x p. 1-3.) Petitioner appealed, which resulted in the Court of Appeals' decision on which this Court granted certiorari.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

K.S. was a first grader at Respondent's North Springs Elementary ("North Springs") in the fall of 2011. K.S. attended kindergarten at North Springs, and he had no disciplinary or behavioral issues that year. (App'x p. 435, lines 3-7.) K.S. loved kindergarten and had no problems with going to school. (App'x p. 152, line 21-p. 153, line 10; p. 179, line 19-p. 180, line 9.) Before first grade, K.S. was a normal five-year-old boy without anxiety problems. (App'x p. 435, line 14-22) K.S.'s mother, Gina, was employed by Respondent as the attendance secretary at North Springs at the

beginning K.S.'s first grade year. (App'x p. 434, lines 13-21.) K.S.'s father, James, is a retired U.S. Army Master Sergeant. (App'x p. 173, lines 17-20.)

K.S. was assigned to Moody's first grade class. (App'x p. 163, lines 14-15.) Mr. and Mrs. Seeger testified that K.S. began to cry before going to school just a few weeks into his first grade school year. (App'x p. 181, line 23-p. 181, line 12; p. 437, lines 13-22.) K.S.'s crying was described by his mother as "shaking upset." (App'x p. 439, lines 15-24.) K.S. also complained of stomach aches as an excuse not to go to school. (App'x p. 437, line 23-p. 419, line 5.) K.S.'s crying was described by his father as "deep breathing and sobbing. The look in his eye was of fear." (App'x p. 182, line 25-p. 183, line 8.)

The Seegers then reached out to Moody and the school administration to find out what was causing K.S.'s crying, apprehension, and terror regarding school. Ms. Germann, an assistant principal and the grade level administrator, told Mrs. Seeger that K.S. was a "mama's boy and he misses his mom, and he wants an excuse to come see you." (App'x p. 118, lines 9-15.) The Seegers set up a parent teacher conference with Moody. Mr. Seeger also sent K.S. little notes of encouragement, and ate lunch with K.S. in the cafeteria. (App'x p. 616-617; p. 184, lines 5-24; p. 214, lines 20-24.) Moody gave the appearance of wanting to help. (App'x p. 443, lines 6-8.) Mr. Seeger thought Moody was a nice person and had no idea that she was the problem until later. (App'x p. 214, lines 7-17.)

Mr. and Mrs. Seeger finally learned of Moody's inappropriate conduct towards K.S. because of an incident that occurred in the school cafeteria on October 20, 2011. K.S. accidentally dropped his tray of food in the cafeteria as he was leaving the line. Cafeteria worker Belinda Fenwick later gave the following written statement to North Spring's principal Dr. David Holzendorf:

"I then told him [K.S.] to go and get another lunch tray, and he went back through the serving line and come out with a corn dog. His teacher Ms.

Moody approached him very harshly to go and get another tray. [...] I observed his teacher (Ms. Moody) **grab him very forcefully by his arm** and tell him as she was walking him with him back to the table **'I will give you something to cry for.'** I feel that no student should ever be treated the way he was treated.

(App'x p. 587-588)(emphasis added).

At trial, K.S. testified as follows:

Q Okay. Now, I mentioned the cafeteria. Tell the --tell the jury what happened in the cafeteria.

A I was going through the lunch line with my corn dog and a drink. And once I walked out, I handed the lunch lady my ticket to buy the lunch. And when I saw Ms. Moody, I dropped my tray. And then when the lunch ladies came over and helped me clean it up and Ms. Moody started walking over, and then **she grabbed my arm** and told me to go get another corn dog. So I went through and just grabbed a corn dog. And then she yelled at me to go get a tray. So I went and got a tray. And then the lady, like, took the other meal off and put that meal on. So then she grabbed my arm took me to another table, where I sat alone.

Q Okay. When -- when you're talking about her grabbing your arm, what -- can you tell the jury exactly how it happened?

A **She would claw my arm with her nails. Q Did it hurt?**

A **Yes.**

Q **Did it make you feel good that she was doing that, or did it make you more scared?**

A **Made me more scared.**

Q Do you remember her saying anything to you in the --in -- in the

cafeteria?

A Yes.

Q Okay. What do you remember her saying?

A *She said, "Stop crying or I'll make you something to cry about."*

(App'x p. 158, line 13-p. 159, line 17)(emphasis added).

The encounter was also captured on the school's video surveillance system. Both Mr. Seeger and Dr. Holzendorf testified as to their recollection of what the video showed. Mr. Seeger testified that the grab was a "forceful grab and pull." (App'x p. 189, lines 10-16.) Dr. Holzendorf testified that he could not determine Moody's forcefulness but that the video confirmed Ms. Fenwick's observation of physical contact. (App'x p. 379, lines 11-21.) Mrs. Seeger learned from the school nurse that something involving K.S. and Moody had happened in the cafeteria. (App'x p. 441, 16-22.) Mrs. Seeger then informed her husband. (App'x p. 441, line 25-p. 423, line 4.) Mr. Seeger testified that K.S. began "bawling" when he saw him after the cafeteria incident. (App'x p. 187, lines 21-23.) The Seegers then brought this incident to the attention of Dr. Holzendorf and demanded a response. (App'x p. 189, line 20-pg. 190, line 7.) When he was being led to his new classroom, K.S. began to cry because, as he said, Moody was in the hallway. (App'x p. 190, lines 16-25.)

Unknown to K.S.'s parents – but known to the school district – Moody was in a downward spiral of unprofessional conduct in the fall of 2011. On September 29, 2011, two members of the school staff, Media Specialist Tabitha Glover and her assistant, Susan Garris, witnessed Moody act inappropriately towards a different, unidentified student ("Student A"). Both Ms. Glover and Ms. Garris considered Moody's interaction with Student A to be a violation of the Respondent's anti-bullying policy, Policy JICFAA and JICFAA-R (hereinafter "JICFAA"). (App'x p. 551-556, 581-582, 585-587.)

The JICFAA policy prohibits “acts of harassment, intimidation or bullying of a student by students, staff and third parties” that “interfere with or disrupt a student's ability to learn and the school's responsibility to educate its students in a safe and orderly environment.” (App’x p. 551-556.) Harassment, intimidation and bullying are defined by JICFAA and the South Carolina Safe School Climate Act as

a gesture, an electronic communication, or a written, **verbal, physical**, or sexual act that **is reasonably perceived to have the effect of:**

- (a) **harming a student** physically **or emotionally** or damaging a student's property, **or placing a student in reasonable fear of personal harm** or property damage; **or**
- (b) **insulting or demeaning a student** or group of students **causing substantial disruption in, or substantial interference** with, the orderly operation of the school.

(App’x p. 552)(emphasis added).

Both Glover and Garris observed Moody humiliating Student A in front of Moody (and K.S.)’s entire class by saying, “Oh my gosh, there is no way you can read that book, you will not be able to read word one in that book, so put it back and pick out another one.” (App’x p. 581-582, 585- 586.) Ms. Glover testified that Moody **yelled** that comment loud enough that the entire class heard her contact. (App’x p. 237, lines 14-25.) Ms. Garris testified that Moody’s statement was so loud that she (Garris) and Moody’s entire class heard it in the large media center. (App’x p. 252, lines 8-25.) Ms. Glover and Ms. Garris thought the comment was very embarrassing to Student A, inappropriate, and intimidating. (App’x p. 180, lines 1-9; pg. 182, lines 22-24; pg. 204, line 8-pg. 205, line 5.) Ms. Glover testified that she felt “distracted” even thinking about how Moody spoke to Student A.

(App'x p. 238, lines 17-25.) Ms. Glover reported Student A responded to Moody's outburst by crying when Moody embarrassed him in front of his entire class. (App'x p. 239, lines 12- 22; p. 249, lines 4-7.) JICFAA requires all employees of Respondent to report violations to the school's principal. (App'x p. 551-556.) Both Ms. Glover and Ms. Garris testified that they immediately reported the September 29th incident to Dr. Holzendorf. (App'x p. 241, lines 11-19; p. 252, line 16-p. 253, line 3.)

Dr. Holzendorf recalled that he had spoken to both Ms. Garris and Ms. Glover regarding the September 29th incident involving Student A. (App'x p. 354, lines 7-20.) Dr. Holzendorf testified that he thought Moody's comments to Student A did not serve a legitimate education purpose and were "demeaning." (App'x p. 354, lines 6-16.) Dr. Holzendorf acknowledged that Moody's comments emotionally harmed Student A and fit one of the definitions of bullying under the district's policy. (App'x p. 551-556; R. p. 356, line 19-pg. 357, line 3.) Dr. Holzendorf testified that he could not recall whether he had spoken with Moody, the grade level administrator, Student A, Student A's parents, or any of the other students in Moody's class (which would have included K.S.) (App'x p. 350, lines 8- 15; p. 366, line 24-p. 367, line 10.) Dr. Holzendorf could not recall any of the actions that he had taken that would be consistent with the "prompt and thorough investigation" of the incident involving Student A as required by JICFAA. (App'x p. 532-537; R. p. 357, lines 4-12.) Dr. Holzendorf's contemporaneously made notes did not reflect any sort of interactions with Moody regarding the September 29th incident. (App'x p. 635-654; R. p. 349, line 22-p. 350, line 6.) Dr. Holzendorf conceded that the lack of documentation meant it was "likely" he did not even speak to Moody about the September

29th incident. (App’x p. 635-654; R. p. 343, line 22-p. 344, line 6.) Dr. Holzendorf testified that at the time in his judgment he did not feel the September 29th incident warranted action. (App’x p. 393, lines 16-21.) Holzendorf admitted he began an investigation of Moody on October 20th, and not September 29th, which was when he was informed that Moody had bullied one of her students rather blatantly. (App’x p. 380, lines 8-11.) Dr. Holzendorf also admitted that he did not impose any of the required sanctions on Moody for violating JICFAA on September 29, 2011. (App’x p. 551-556; p. 393, line 4-21.)

Dr. Karen Lovett, Respondent’s executive director for human resources, testified she did not know about the September 29th incident involving Student A until much later. (App’x p. 396, line 19-p. 397, line 3; p. 398, lines 19-22.) Dr. Lovett was of the opinion—after much prodding—that the September 29th incident violated JICFAA. (App’x p. 398, line 19-p. 401, line 18.) Dr. Lovett also testified that the statement on September 29th was embarrassing to Student A. (App’x p. 402, lines 10- 14.) Dr. Lovett testified—again after much prodding—that Dr. Holzendorf should have initiated an investigation of Moody and contacted the district after receiving the September 29th incident report. (App’x p.655-661; p. 404, line 22-p. 405, line 13.) Dr. Lovett also acknowledged that waiting 21 days to investigate the allegations of Moody’s misconduct did not fit the definition of “promptly” and was not reasonable. (App’x p. 406, lines 3-14.) Dr. Lovett also testified that she did not see any evidence of a “thorough” investigation of the September 29th incident as required by JICFAA. (App’x p. 406, line 15-p. 408, line 8.) Moody stated to Dr. Holzendorf and Dr. Lovett when Respondent finally started its investigation that the September 29th incident occurred on a “very dark, ugly day” in her life. (App’x p. 416, lines 1-14; R. p.

609-613). This “very dark, ugly day” was part of the personal issues which Dr. Lovett testified was one of the reasons Respondent took action against Moody. (App’x p. 412, line 21-pg. 414, line 6.)

The second incident involving Moody—and the first incident actually documented by Respondent between Moody and K.S.—occurred on October 10, 2011 (“the October 10th incident.”) This was before the school district had taken any action on its knowledge of Moody’s cruel behavior toward a student. Ms. Glover and Ms. Garris again witnessed Moody act inappropriately, this time toward K.S., who was crying. Ms. Glover wrote that Moody stated when her class arrived “in a loud tone ‘Don’t give [K.S.] any special treatment or praise. He has been crying non-stop in the classroom all day, and he does not deserve anything.’” (App’x p. 585-586.) Ms. Garris wrote that Moody loudly proclaimed, when she came back to the media center after hearing that K.S. had behaved normally, “Of course he’s good for you, he has cried all day in my class.” (App’x p. 583-584.) Ms. Glover testified the incident involving K.S. occurred either the next time or the second time Moody’s class came to the media center after the September 29th incident. (App’x p. 244 line 15-pg. 245, line 6.) Ms. Glover elaborated on the incident in her trial testimony that Moody’s statement was again said loudly in front of the whole class. (App’x p. 244, line 17-p. 245, line 9.) Ms. Glover observed K.S. immediately put his head down and begin to sob. (App’x p. 245, lines 10-16.)

Ms. Glover testified unequivocally that she informed Dr. Holzendorf of the October 10th incident within 24 hours after observing Moody’s treatment of K.S. (App’x p. 246, line 10-p. 247, line 15.) Ms. Garris testified that she hand delivered her written report regarding

the October 10th incident directly to Dr. Holzendorf on either October 10th or 11th. (App'x p. 255, line 18-p. 256, line 12.) Dr. Holzendorf's recollection was the meeting with Ms. Glover occurred sometime after the cafeteria incident. (App'x p. 358, line 19-p. 359, line 20.) Mr. Seeger had no idea the October 10th incident had even occurred until much later. (App'x p. 196, lines 4-10.) Moody did not deny the incident on October 10th or her statement in the media center regarding K.S. when questioned about it by Dr. Lovett on November 3, 2011. (App'x p. 489, lines 14-17; R. p. 601-604.) Dr. Lovett also testified that Dr. Holzendorf should have started an investigation on October 10th in response to the complaints from Ms. Glover and Ms. Garris. (App'x p. 411, lines 14-21.)

On October 18, 2011, Dr. Holzendorf documented a meeting that occurred between him and Moody. (App'x p. 596-597.) In that meeting, Moody informed Dr. Holzendorf that K.S. had been crying in her classroom "for the last three weeks." (App'x p. 596-597.) Dr. Holzendorf testified at trial that "for the last three weeks" would have put the beginning of the crying episodes into sometime in September. (App'x p. 370, lines 10-15.) The "for the last three weeks" would have placed the beginning of K.S.'s crying before the first incident involving Student A. And yet, Dr. Holzendorf still did nothing. Dr. Holzendorf elaborated that he thought the "missing his dad" statement was in relation to a deployment by Mr. Seeger. (App'x p. 368, lines 1-24; p. 394, lines 3-17.) Dr. Holzendorf was unaware of Mr. Seeger's deployment status and took no steps to find out. (App'x p. 375, lines 3- 17.) The only time Mr. Seeger was ever deployed overseas occurred during Operation Desert Storm long before K.S. was born. (App'x p. 175, lines 14-15.) Mr. Seeger did travel within the United States for work, but K.S. had never experienced any episodes of crying while Mr.

Seeger was traveling. (App’x p. 177, line 15-p. 177, line 23.) Dr. Holzendorf admitted that he did not consult with the school counselor, Ms. Williams, regarding K.S.’s crying. (App’x p. 369, lines 7-9; p. 371, lines 10- 21.)

Dr. Holzendorf finally initiated an investigation into Moody’s conduct after the October 20th cafeteria incident. (App’x p. 601-627.) A recorded recollection prepared by Dr. Lovett contains the following statement from Dr. Holzendorf:

DH: Through different incidents, those statements came out as we were expanding our investigation. The media specialist came to me that day, concerned about the tone Ms. Moody used. I didn’t put the two situations together until later.

(App’x p. 612.)

Dr. Lovett testified that Moody should no longer be in a classroom. (App’x p. 412, lines 18- 25.) Dr. Lovett also testified she did not think Moody could return and be effective in the classroom “in her present state of mind.” (App’x p. 420, lines 2-5.) Dr. Lovett testified that the three incidents meant that Moody was far beyond corrective action and that “She was just not in a –a mental state of mind to be with children at that point in time.” (App’x p. 420, lines 21-25.) Dr. Lovett testified that Moody was capable of being a teacher as September 29 but lost that ability sometime by October 20. (App’x p. 427, line 23–p. 428, line 5.) Moody was allowed to resign in lieu of termination by the district. (App’x p. 416, line 15-p. 417, line 2.)

It was only after the October 20th cafeteria incident that K.S. finally opened up to his parents regarding Moody’s treatment of him in class. K.S. related specific past incidents. K.S. testified that Moody would get in his face and loudly yell “Stop being such a crybaby.”

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