RECEIVED

Jul 21 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court**

**APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas**

Jocelyn Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Supreme Court Number: 2022-001408

K.S., a minor, by and through his Guardian ad Litem, James Seeger.....Petitioner,

v.

Richland County School District Two..... Respondent

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

HALLIGAN MAHONEY WILLIAMS
SMITH FAWLEY & REAGLE, PA

Thomas K. Barlow, S.C. Bar No. 8995
tbarlow@hmwlegal.com

1301 Gervais Street, Suite 1400
P.O. Box 11367
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 254-4035

Attorney for Respondent

Other Counsel of Record:

Sarah M. Larabee, Esquire
Andrew S. Radeker, Esquire

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

On the third day of the trial,³ K.S. sought to introduce into evidence and play for the jury the two-hour, *de bene esse* deposition of Dr. McEvoy. (App’x p. 430, lines 20-22). Richland Two renewed its objections to Dr. McEvoy’s testimony based on the motion *in limine* filed before trial. (App’x p. 431, line 16 – p. 432 line 1). In addition, based on the length of the trial to that point and K.S.’s counsel’s extensive questioning of numerous witnesses on Richland Two policy and alleged violations of policy, Richland Two objected under Rule 403, SCRE, on the grounds that Dr. McEvoy’s testimony would be unnecessarily cumulative and have the potential to confuse the jury. (*Id.*) The Trial Court agreed, finding:

Having heard all of the witnesses testify, I’m actually going to grant the motion and exclude the witness. His testimony

³ The trial started on Tuesday, May 28, 2019.

would be cumulative at best . . . my initial impression was that his commentary regarding -on-student bullying may be instructive in some way. But now having a full grasp of the scope of the interactions alleged between K.S. and Teacher, I don't think there's anything particularly unique about the situation. There's been testimony about the actual damages sustained by K.S. And so testimony regarding theoretical, speculative – I mean, and frankly, I think we've beaten the policy to death through witness after witness. And so yet another person trying to tell these jurors the definition of bullying . . . or whatever it is, is simply unnecessary, cumulative, would have the potential to confuse the jury as to the ultimate issue they are to decide in this case.

(App'x p. 433, lines 2-20).

“The admission of evidence is within the circuit court's discretion and will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion.” *State v. Dickerson*, 395 S.C. 101, 116, 716 S.E.2d 895, 903 (2011). “A trial court has particularly wide discretion in ruling on Rule 403 objections.” *State v. Lee*, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012); *State v. Dial*, 405 S.C. 247, 260, 746 S.E.2d 495, 502 (Ct. App. 2013) (“A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of relevant evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances.” (citation omitted)); *State v. Shuler*, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003) (“The relevance, materiality, and admissibility of evidence are matters within the sound discretion of the trial court and a ruling will be disturbed only upon a showing of an abuse of discretion.”); *State v. Adams*, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003) (“We review a trial court's decision regarding Rule 403 pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and are obligated to give great deference to the trial court's judgment.”); *State v. Jamison*, 372 S.C. 649, 652, 643 S.E.2d 700, 701 (Ct. App. 2007) (“The qualification of a witness as an expert and the admissibility of his or her testimony

are matters left to the sound discretion of the trial [court], whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion and prejudice to the opposing party.”); *State v. Cope*, 405 S.C. 317, 343, 748 S.E.2d 194, 208 (2013) (“Generally, the admission of expert testimony is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court.” (quoting *State v. Whaley*, 305 S.C. 138, 143, 406 S.E.2d 369, 372 (1991))); *State v. Lyles*, 379 S.C. 328, 339, 665 S.E.2d 201, 207 (Ct. App. 2008) (“If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.”).

In his case in chief, K.S. questioned several school employees and administrators at great length about Richland Two Policy JICAA, Harassment, Intimidation or Bullying, and its application to the facts of the case, presumably to show the jury that the policy was ineffective and/or that Richland Two failed to follow the policy and that failure allowed Teacher to cause K.S. emotional harm. Policies JICAA, JICAA-R, and GCQF were used as exhibits and the following witnesses were questioned about their meaning and application to the facts of the case: Susan Garris (App’x p. 251, line 5 – p. 253 line 3); Denise Barth (App’x p. 259, line 7 – p. 271 line 19, p. 275, line 16 – p. 280 line 6); David Holzendorf (App’x p. 319, line 21 – p. 348 line 17, p. 356, line 17 – p. 365 line 24); and Karen Lovett (App’x p. 399, line 14 – p. 408 line 10, p. 425, line 11 – p. 427 line 1, p. 428, line 6 – p. 429 line 4). It simply would have been cumulative for counsel to play a two-hour *de bene esse* deposition that essentially walked yet another witness through the same policies and asked the purported expert to essentially make counsel’s repeated argument that Teacher bullied K.S. and Richland Two did not follow its policies related to alleged bullying of students. (App’x p. 468, line 11 – p. 469 line 16, p. 491,

line 25 – p. 492 line 23, p. 493, line 15 – p. 496 line 18, p. 499, line 22 – p. 501 line 16, p. 503, line 9 – p. 509 line 18, p. 514, line 24 – p. 515 line 15). The jury was fully capable of deciding those issues without Dr. McEvoy essentially re-hashing earlier testimony on the penultimate day of the trial. Further, Dr. McEvoy’s testimony as to the potential effects of bullying on students in general⁴, where K.S., his father, and a treating expert had already testified as to alleged specific effects on K.S. arising out of Teacher’s conduct, would also have been both cumulative and unhelpful to the jury. (App’x pp. 158-161, 162-168, 182-183, 191-213, 222-226, 287-307).

In addition, Dr. McEvoy’s testimony had very real potential to confuse the jurors as to the ultimate issues in the case, which were: 1) under the Tort Claims Act, whether Richland Two was grossly negligent in its supervision of K.S. and/or Teacher, and 2) whether K.S. could prove causation and recoverable damages as a result of the alleged gross negligence. The term “bullying” has no independent legal significance in South Carolina. Further, Dr. McEvoy’s testimony incorporating simple negligence, rather than a gross negligence standard, was likely to confuse the jury as to the applicable standard for determining liability. (App’x p. 494, line 15 – p. 495 line 15). Accordingly, permitting an expert witness to testify that K.S. was “bullied” had the strong potential to mislead the jury into thinking that proof of Teacher “bullying” K.S. was a dispositive issue in the case. Dr. McEvoy’s testimony that Teacher bullied K.S. and that Richland Two violated its policies would have been completely without reference to the proper Tort Claims Act gross negligence standard the jury would have been asked to consider. In summary, K.S. was not entitled to introduce Dr. McEvoy’s cumulative testimony to “drive home” the

⁴ Dr. McEvoy testified that he had never interviewed, let alone provided any treatment to K.S., or even spoken to any witness in the case. (App’x p. 472, lines 19-21).

misleading mantra that proof of “bullying” somehow is proof of both gross negligence and a legally compensable injury worthy of damages, particularly when K.S. made the same argument for two full days through witnesses his counsel chose to call. As such, the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in properly excluding Dr. McEvoy’s testimony under Rule 403, SCRE.

D. In The Alternative, Dr. McEvoy’s Testimony Was Inadmissible And Should Have Been Excluded Under Rule 702, SCRE.

The admission of expert testimony is governed by Rule 702, SCRE, which provides:

[i]f scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

The qualification of a witness as an expert is within the trial court's discretion. *Fields v. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 545, 555, 658 S.E.2d. 80, 85 (2008). In determining the admissibility of expert testimony, South Carolina courts make three inquiries. First, the court must determine whether ‘the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury.’ *Graves v. CAS Med.Sys., Inc.*, 401 S.C 63, 74, 735 S.E.2d 650, 655 (2012) (quoting *Watson v. Ford Motor Co.*, 389 S.C. 434, 446, 699 S.E.2d 169, 175 (2010)). Second, the expert must have acquired the requisite knowledge and skill to qualify as an expert in the particular subject matter. *Id.* Finally, the substance of the testimony must be reliable. *Id.* The final inquiry is the central feature of the analysis. *Id.* Only after the trial court has found that expert testimony is necessary to assist the jury in resolving factual questions, the expert is qualified in the particular area, and the testimony is

reliable, may the trial court admit the evidence and permit the jury to assign it such weight as it deems appropriate. *See State v. White*, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009). Importantly, the party offering the expert has the burden of showing the witness possesses the necessary learning, skill, or practical experience to enable the witness to give opinion testimony. *See State v. Harris*, 318 S.C. 178, 456 S.E.2d 433 (Ct. App. 1995) (party presenting expert must show witness possesses, either through study or experience, specialized knowledge that makes him better qualified than jury to form opinion on particular subject). *State v. Henry*, 329 S.C. 266, 274, 495 S.E.2d 463, 466-67 (Ct. App. 1997).

1. K.S. Failed To Show That Dr. McEvoy’s Testimony Was Beyond The Ordinary Knowledge Of The Jury.

K.S. sought to qualify Dr. McEvoy as an expert witness on the subject of teacher-versus-student bullying and school district responses to teacher-versus-student bullying. (App’x p. 469). Dr. McEvoy was expected to testify “as to the Defendant’s standard of care, breach of that standard of care, Plaintiff’s damages, and the causation of Plaintiff’s damages.” (App’x pp. 664-665). The substance of Dr. McEvoy’s testimony was that teachers, as well as peers, are capable of “bullying” students, and he believed that Richland Two failed to act to prevent Teacher from bullying K.S. and causing him emotional distress. Without Dr. McEvoy’s testimony, the jury would have been fully capable of determining all relevant ultimate issues in the case, which were: 1) whether Richland Two was grossly negligent and failed to exercise slight care in its supervision of K.S. and/or Teacher, and 2) whether K.S. could prove causation and recoverable damages as a result of the alleged gross negligence. The jury simply had no need for an “expert” to read Richland Two policies to them, tell them that K.S. had been “bullied” (without

reference to the proper legal standard, as discussed above), and that a student bullied by a teacher might suffer emotional distress. While Dr. McEvoy might have acquired more knowledge than most jurors on the general subject matter of “teacher bullying of students,” his testimony did not encompass facts or opinions beyond their general knowledge and should have been excluded on that basis.

2. K.S. Failed To Show That Dr. McEvoy Had The Requisite Knowledge And Skill To Qualify As An Expert In This Case.

A proposed expert witness must have acquired by study or practical experience such knowledge of the subject matter of his testimony as would enable him to give guidance and assistance to the jury in resolving a factual issue which is beyond the scope of the jury’s good judgment and common knowledge. *State v. White*, 372 S.C. 364, 374, 642 S.E.2d 607, 612 (Ct. App. 2007). In this case, K.S. offered insufficient evidence to support the qualifications of Dr. McEvoy as an expert to testify regarding Richland Two’s standard of care, breach of that standard of care, K.S.’s damages, and the causation of K.S.’s damages. Specifically, as it relates to Richland Two’s standard of care, Dr. McEvoy had no knowledge, experience, training, or education specifically related to South Carolina standards of care. At the time of his deposition, Dr. McEvoy was employed at Northern Michigan University and had previously been employed at Wittenberg University in Ohio. (App’x p. 470). Dr. McEvoy had never worked in South Carolina and had only been to South Carolina once for a golf outing ten to twelve years prior to the trial. (*Id.*) Further, Dr. McEvoy had never appeared as a presenter at a conference in South Carolina nor conducted any training in South Carolina. (App’x p. 471). Dr. McEvoy had no experience or study of South Carolina laws or regulations as related to qualifications or employment of teachers, supervision of teachers, or

supervision of students. (*Id.*) Furthermore, Dr. McEvoy had never held a certificate or license to teach in a K-12 setting in any state nor had he ever been employed by a public school district. (*Id.*) Dr. McEvoy conceded that he had not reviewed any training materials or programs used by South Carolina school districts other than Richland Two. (App'x p. 472). Finally, Dr. McEvoy had never been qualified as an expert witness in South Carolina and could not identify any case in which he had been qualified as an expert on the subjects for which his testimony was proffered. (App'x p. 473).

Dr. McEvoy's generalized study of teacher-student bullying, which was in a nascent stage at the time of the events at issue in this case, simply does not qualify him to testify as an expert witness in a South Carolina Tort Claims Act case. Finally, Dr. McEvoy has a Ph.D. in Sociology; he is not a licensed psychologist or psychiatrist, or therapist of any sort. (App'x p. 474). Thus, he simply lacked the specialized knowledge and training to be qualified as an expert in the areas K.S. sought to qualify him. Accordingly, his testimony should have been excluded for that additional reason.

3. K.S. Failed To Show That Dr. McEvoy's Testimony Was Reliable.

In non-scientific expert testimony challenges, the court "must still exercise its role as gatekeeper and determine whether the proffered evidence is reliable." *Graves*, 401 S.C. at 75, 735 S.E.2d at 656. "Thus, while a challenge to an opinion's reliability generally goes to weight and not admissibility, this 'familiar evidentiary mantra' may not be invoked until the circuit court has vetted its reliability in the first instance and deemed the testimony admissible." *Id.*

In addition to Dr. McEvoy's lack of technical and specialized knowledge, Dr. McEvoy testified that there is very little research on national standards of teachers

bullying students. (App'x p. 473). Further, he testified that “there’s research on the long-term effects of trauma, particularly to ---Teacher bullying is not as much known.” (App'x p. 524, lines 12-13). Dr. McEvoy testified that his article based on a study in 2017 and published in 2018 discussing bullying was the first of its kind. (App'x p. 474). Thus, there are extremely limited published articles and studies on the topic, not relied upon or applied by other qualified individuals, and limited data that would assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact at issue in this case. Dr. McEvoy indicated that most of the research and most of the attention is focused on peer-on-peer bullying, which was not an issue in this case. (App'x p. 527).

K.S. thus did not establish that Dr. McEvoy’s testimony was reliable, and it should have been excluded on that final ground.

E. Dr. McEvoy’s Testimony Was Irrelevant To The Directed Verdict And Thus, Any Error In Excluding It Was Harmless.

The trial court’s directed verdict ruling was based solely on K.S.’s failure to offer evidence of physical injury required to support an award of damages for emotional distress pursuant to a gross negligence theory under the Tort Claims Act. It is undisputed that Dr. McEvoy’s testimony would not have addressed whether K.S. had sustained a physical injury, but rather, would have been offered to establish that Richland Two did not follow an alleged standard of care as set forth in its policies. Because the Trial Court properly granted Richland Two a directed verdict on K.S.’s failure to prove damages, the exclusion of Dr. McEvoy’s testimony, even if erroneous, would not have altered the outcome. Accordingly, even if the trial court erred in excluding Dr. McEvoy’s testimony, it would not be reversible. *See State v. Miller*, 367 S.C. 329, 336, 626 S.E.2d 328, 332 (2006) (holding error is harmless if, after reviewing the entire record, the reviewing court

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